IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DESMOND FORTHNER, SR.

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-00916

LAKENYA BONNER FORTHNER

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Appealed From: **The Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of
Jasper County, Mississippi.**

**THOMAS L. TULLOS
POST OFFICE DRAWER 567
BAY SPRINGS, MISSISSIPPI 39422
TELEPHONE NO. (601)764-4258
FACSIMILE NO. (601)764-4126
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. [REDACTED]**

Counsel for Desmond Forthner, Sr.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DESMOND FORTHNER, SR.

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-00916

LAKENYA BONNER FORTHNER

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Lower Court Proceedings:

This case commenced when Lakenya Bonner Forthner (LaKenya) filed her complaint for divorce against Desmond Forthner, Sr. (Desmond). The complaint was filed on May 15, 2008, and it asserted as grounds habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. Desmond filed his answer and denied Lakenya's allegations.

Thereafter, on November 12, 2008, Desmond filed his counter-complaint for legal separation and separate maintenance, no counter-claim for divorce was filed.

In a somewhat unusual move, the Chancellor ruled that the issue of child custody would be heard first. Consequently, this issue was heard on September 9, 2008. At the end of the testimony, the Chancellor awarded primary custody of the parties' children unto LaKenya and reserved standard visitation unto Desmond.

On January 27, 2009, the court first tried the issue of whether or not LaKenya was entitled to a divorce. The court ruled that her proof did not meet the standard for granting a divorce on cruelty grounds. Then the court took up the issue of separate maintenance as requested by Desmond. The court bifurcated that issue and only took up the question of whether or not Desmond had substantially contributed to the separation of the parties. The financial aspects of separate maintenance were never reached. The court ruled that Desmond's actions had caused the separation of the parties; and, therefore, he was not entitled to separate maintenance.

On March 9, 2009, the court rendered an order denying LaKenya a divorce, denying Desmond separate maintenance and awarding to LaKenya the primary care, custody, and control of the minor children.

On March 12, 2009, Desmond filed a motion for a new trial. A hearing was held on this motion on April 21, 2009. On May 5, 2009, the Court rendered an order overruling Desmond's motion.

Feeling aggrieved by the lower court's ruling, Desmond timely filed this appeal.

B. Facts:

Desmond and LaKenya married on June 29, 2002. LaKenya already had a child, LaKendra, who had been borne out of wedlock. After the parties married, Desmond adopted Lakendra. Shortly afterwards, Lakenya gave birth to Desmond Jr., who was nicknamed "Little D." (see court pleadings file, page 5, 6, Tr. 233).

LaKenya was and remains a Methodist. Desmond had been a Baptist; but shortly after the marriage, he joined the Pentecostal Church. (Tr. 269, 272). LaKenya and Desmond had disagreements about their religious beliefs, however, they continued to live together and the marriage seemed to be doing well.

Desmond worked at Howard Industries from 1999 until April, 2005, when he was severely injured in a motorcycle accident. This accident left Desmond disabled. However, two years later he enrolled at East Central Community College in body shop repair. After finishing the course, he started fixing vehicles on a limited basis at his home. (Tr, 145, 146, 148, 149, 231, 232).

LaKenya graduated from Meridian Community College in 2001 and received a degree in nursing. (Tr. 26, 73). She returned to school in June, 2006, when she attended Jones County Junior College. She went four nights per week from 5:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. Then she started school at the USM nursing branch in Meridian, and attended from August, 2006, until July, 2007. During this time she went every other Friday from 8:00 a.m. until 5:00 or 6:00 p.m. She received her BS in nursing at the end of that semester.(Tr. 68, 69, 72, 79).

She started back to school at the USM nursing branch in August, 2007, and she was still going to school there as of September, 2008. Her classroom hours were from 6:00 p.m. until 9:00 p.m. on Thursday evenings. (Tr. 69, 70, 71). However, instead of going to Meridian, she started going to the Hattiesburg campus in September, 2008. (Tr. 76, 77).

She finished the classes that she was taking on October 22, 2008. However, she started back to class in Hattiesburg on January 1, 2009. She will continue to attend class there one day every other week from 1:00 p.m. to 3:30 p.m. (Tr. 70-71).

LaKenya has worked during the entire time that the parties were married. She has worked and gone to school at the same time. (Tr. 20, 44, 110, 111)

LaKenya has worked as the school nurse for the East Jasper School District. She has either worked for or is now working for the Hattiesburg Clinic Dialysis Unit, Riley Nursing Home, Rush Specialty Hospital, and CCI Hospice. She generally goes to work at 7:00 a.m. and gets off at 5:15 p.m. to 5:30 p.m., or she will work twelve hours days depending on the employer. (Tr. 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 44, 74, 117, 118.)

Because of LaKenya's hectic schedule, Desmond became the primary care giver of the children. LaKenya was either working or going to school most of the time. Therefore, Desmond took over the main responsibility of caring and raising the children.

He would get the children up in the morning, carry them to the bus, and he would be waiting for them when they returned from school. He helped them with their homework, played games with them, and would see to it that they took their bathes and put them to bed. (Tr. 112, 113, 114, 115, 116, 119, 120).

Desmond was very attentive to the children's progress in school. Little D attended Headstart for two years. Desmond went to the school five or six times each month to check on

his progress. He attended luncheons, Men's day activities, and parent/teacher conferences. LaKenya never had time to go. (Tr. 96, 97, 98, 99, 100).

Desmond went to see LaKendra's teachers on a regular basis and helped her with her homework. LaKenya did not have the time to do this. (Tr. 112, 113, 114, 115, 116, 117, 118, 130).

Desmond cleaned, washed, and ironed the children's clothes. When they became ill, he was the parent who carried them to the doctor. He coached LaKendra's softball team for two years, carried her to the practices and the games. (At trial LaKenya could not even remember the name of the team that LaKendra played for.) Desmond taught both children how to run the bases, swing the bat, and ran fielding exercises with them. (Tr. 29, 63, 64, 65, 113, 114, 116, 117, 121, 123, 124).

Desmond took the time to teach the children right from wrong, and explained to them why he was disciplining them from a biblical standpoint. He prayed with his children on a daily basis. (Tr. 83, 124, 125, 126).

While LaKenya was at work or at school, Desmond took care of the children and the children did well under his care.

Not only was Desmond a good father, he was an exemplary husband. Before his injury, he worked on a continuous basis. He bought a nice home for his family. He did not curse nor abuse his wife. He did not drink, use drugs, or commit adultery. He was a committed husband and father.(Tr. 280, 285, 286, 287, 288, 289, 290, 296).

Desmond did not go to movies because of the pornographic content and vulgar language in most movies. Desmond sincerely believes that a man should show his wife love and treat her with respect. He believes strongly that a man should not cheat on his wife, should take care of his home, pay the bills, and work. A man should be a provider for his home. (Tr. 339, 340, 344)

Although Desmond and LaKenya had differences in their religious beliefs, Desmond did not force his views upon LaKenya. She never went to church with Desmond. She is a very strong willed person and has a good education. (Tr. 277, 278, 279).

At some point late in the marriage, LaKenya developed a romantic relationship with Jermaine Owens and this was the main reason for the break-up of the marriage. Although she argued that religious differences caused them to separate, the parties lived together from June, 2002, until February, 2008, a period of almost six years. It is interesting to note that she hid her relationship with Jermaine Owens even though she later admitted that they had been talking to each other for some period of time before January, 2009. It is not known when this relationship actually started. (Tr. 393-400).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1

THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN HIS EVALUATION OF THE "ALBRIGHT" FACTORS

The Chancellor failed to properly evaluate the "Albright" factors. Although much evidence was presented that Desmond was the primary care-giver to the children, the Chancellor ignored that evidence. The Chancellor ignored the fact that LaKenya works long hours and is pursuing her education at the same time. The Chancellor ignored that fact that Desmond has ample time to devote to the children and that he retains the marital home.

The Chancellor unfairly penalized Desmond because of his religious beliefs and rewarded LaKenya for her adulterous affair. The Chancellor ignored the fact that by failing to award custody to Desmond that the children would not continue to go to the same schools, would not live in the same home and would not remain in the same environment as they did before the separation.

ISSUE II

THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT SEPARATE MAINTENANCE TO DESMOND

LaKenya was denied a divorce because she failed to prove that Desmond was guilty of habitual cruelty. However, the Chancellor committed error when he failed to award separate maintenance to Desmond. He is disabled from work and is relegated to drawing social security disability. LaKenya has a B.S. in nursing, will obtain a Masters in nursing in December, 2009, and has great earning potential.

The Chancellor unfairly penalized Desmond because he belongs to the Pentecostal church. Desmond is a committed Christian who actually practices his faith on a daily basis.

Desmond is an exemplary father and a good husband. He did all of the good things that a man should do in order to take care of his family.

The Chancellor ruled that Desmond did not commit wrongful misconduct during the marriage. However, he did rule that Desmond was not even entitled to a consideration of separate maintenance because his Christian beliefs had substantially contributed to the separation of the parties. The Chancellor erred.

ISSUE III

THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY VIOLATING DESMOND'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT OF FREEDOM OF RELIGION

The First Amendment to the Constitution of the United States mandates that our citizens should not be penalized nor discriminated against because of their religious beliefs.

The Chancellor attempted to camouflage his prejudice against Desmond's religious convictions. However, a close reading of the Chancellor's questioning of Desmond and the statements of the Chancellor in his opinions makes it crystal clear that he was prejudiced against Desmond's religious convictions and his practice of those beliefs. The Chancellor unfairly based all of his rulings on a biased view of Desmond's religious convictions. The Chancellor erred.

ISSUE IV

THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN NOT GRANTING DESMOND REASONABLE ATTORNEY'S FEES

The Chancellor refused to allow Desmond to even put on evidence of his need for an award of attorney's fees. The Chancellor simply ruled that because Desmond had failed to show that he was entitled to separate maintenance he could not put on proof of his entitlement to reasonable attorney's fees. The Chancellor erred.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court must reverse a chancellor if the chancellor is manifestly in error or has applied an erroneous legal standard. Williams v. Williams, 656 So.2d 325, 330 (Miss. 1995). Appellate courts need only to determine if the chancellor's decision was supported by credible evidence. Lee v. Lee, 798 So.2d 1284 (para. 22) (Miss 2001).

An appellate court must find a chancellor in error where the chancellor improperly considers and applies the Albright factors. Hollon v. Hollon, 784 So.2d 943 (para. 11) (Miss. 2001). In determining whether the chancellor abused his discretion in applying the Albright factors, the appellate court "reviews the evidence and testimony presented at trial under each factor to insure [the chancellor's] ruling was supported by record." Hollon, 784 So.2d. at (para.13). Furthermore, differences in religion, personal values, and lifestyles should not be the sole basis for custody decisions. Albright, 437 So.2d at 1005. See: Watts v. Watts, 854 So.2d 11(para. 3, 5) pg.12, 13 (Miss. App. 2003).

ISSUE NO. I

THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN HIS EVALUATION OF THE "ALBRIGHT" FACTORS

The Chancellor erred in awarding primary physical custody of the minor children to LaKenya. Based upon the applicable facts and law Desmond should have been awarded the primary physical custody of the children. A discussion of the Albright factors as it applies to the case at bar is as follows:

Continuity of Care Prior to Separation :

Without question Desmond provided the vast majority of care for the children before the separation. Desmond devoted his entire life to his children. On the other hand LaKenya could

not because she was working as a nurse five days per week, was working on weekends at a second job, and was attending school at night. She had very little time to devote to the children.

Desmond provided most of the care for the children's needs. Desmond did most of the cleaning, washing, mopping and ironing for the children. He kept the house and yard in good shape. (Tr. 113, 114, 182, 183)

Desmond did this because he wanted to, and LaKenya simply was not at home long enough to do it. She was too busy pursuing her career. (Tr. 115, 119, 128, 182, 183)

Although LaKenya denies that Desmond was the primary care-giver, her work and school schedule precluded her from being the primary caregiver. Starting in December, 2006, she started work at the Hattiesburg Clinic dialysis unit in Bay Springs and Laurel. She had to be at work at 5:00 a.m. and would leave home at 4:30 a.m. She would not return home until 5:00 or 6:00 p.m. While working for Hattiesburg Clinic, she moonlighted at Rush Hospital. In August, 2006, she went to work at College Professional Healthcare and would leave at 7:30 in the morning and would not return until 5:00 to 5:30 p.m. (Tr. 13, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 44)

After that she went to work at Oaks Rehabilitation Center at the Riley Nursing Center. She works there Monday through Friday. She leaves home at 7:00 a.m. and does not return until 5:15 p.m. She also works twelve hour days at the Specialty Hospital in Meridian three or four days per month. (Tr. 20, 21, 74, 75)

While she was doing all of this work, she was also going to school. Starting in June, 2006, and going through the end of July, 2006, she attended Jones County Junior College from 5:00 p.m. until 8:00 p.m. Afterwards she attended the USM nursing branch in Meridian every other Friday from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 or 6:00 p.m., from August, 2006, to July, 2007. Starting in August, 2007, she changed her attendance to Thursdays from 6:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. for five weeks. (Tr. 70, 71, 72, 73)

This class ended on October 22, 2008. Starting on January 1, 2009, she goes to school one day every other week from 1:00 p.m. to 3:30 p.m. This attendance will continue until December, 2009. (Tr. 70, 71, 72, 73)

What is really eye-catching is just how little time that LaKenya spent with the children. The only thing that she really did was to do some cooking. She very seldomly carried the children to school, never played with them, very seldomly carried them to the doctor, and never went to the schools to check on the children's progress. (Tr. 13, 14, 21, 25, 63, 64, 65, 67, 75, 76, 78, 79, 81)

Desmond testified that when LaKenya got home from work that she was tired and didn't have a whole lot of energy. He said she would take a nap and talk on the telephone. She would do some cooking, but she was just real tired. (Tr. 116, 127) From a close reading of the record, it is clear that she would not be able to take care of the children now if it were not for her mother, Minnie Bonner.

Desmond testified that he kept Little D at home before he started Headstart. Desmond carried LaKendrea to and from her bus to go to school and would put Little D on the bus to go Headstart as well. (Tr. 112, 115).

Desmond was at home when the children came home from school. He helped them with their homework. He saw that the children were fed, and put them in bed. This continued on throughout the marriage. (Tr. 112, 113, 114, 115, 116, 117, 118).

The Chancellor completely ignored the evidence presented on this issue.

Parenting Skills and Willingness and Capacity to Provide Primary Child Care:

The Chancellor did not award this factor to either party. The Chancellor erred in not awarding this factor to Desmond.

The testimony is uncontradicted that Desmond has done most of the cleaning, washing, mopping, and ironing clothes. LaKenya was too busy working and going to school to do this. (Tr. 113, 114, 116, 117).

Before Little D went to Headstart, Desmond took care of him at home. When Little D went to Headstart, Desmond carried both Little D and LaKendrea to catch the bus, and he picked them up after school. He then took them home, helped them with their homework, and then they would play games. He made sure Little D took a bath at night. (Tr. 112, 113, 114, 115, 116, 118, 119, 120).

Desmond played ball with the children and coached LaKendrea's softball team. Desmond carried them to all of their practices and games. Sometimes LaKenya went and sometimes she did not. She did not go to any of the games played on Fridays because she was in class. But Desmond never missed a game nor practice. (Tr. 29, 63, 64, 65, 121, 122, 123, 124)

Desmond taught the children how to swing a bat, how to run the bases, how to catch pop-ups, hard ground balls, and bouncing ground balls. LaKenya got out to play ball with the children only once. (Tr. 122).

When the children need discipline, he talks to them, gives them warnings, and bases his teachings on Biblical precepts. If need be, he does employ corporal punishment. LaKenya, on the other hand, does a lot of fussing and screaming. Occasionally, she will whip them, but mainly she fusses and screams. (Tr. 83, 124, 125, 126)

The one point that so clearly contrasts the priorities of the two parents is how often they would check on the children's progress in school. In regards to LaKendrea, LaKenya would go once or twice a year to check on her grades. She never went to check on Little D's progress. (Tr. 60, 67, 130)

Desmond, on the other hand, went quite often to LaKendrea's school to check on her progress. He checked on her grades, picked up her report card, and went to the teachers and parents conferences. He went approximately four times a year for parent's visitation. LaKenya could not find the time to go.(Tr. 130)

LaKenya admitted that she never went to Headstart to check on Little D's progress. (Tr. 64)

Jean Morgan was Little D's teacher for two years at Headstart. She only saw LaKenya approximately eight times and this was when she either dropped Little D off or picked him up. She could not recall one time when LaKenya came to a parent's luncheon or a parent/teacher meeting. Headstart carries out two home visitations every year. Ms. Morgan only saw LaKenya on one home visitation. (Tr. 98, 99)

In regards to Desmond, Ms. Morgan testified that:

(1) Desmond would just show up to check on his son to see how he was doing in school and how he was interacting with the other children;

(2) She saw Desmond five or six times each month;

(3) He always came to the parent/teacher conferences and always came to the classroom;

(4) He came twice a year for luncheons scheduled for the parents and once each year for men's day meals;

(5) She saw him at each home visitation;

(6) Desmond was very concerned about Little D's progress; and

(7) Desmond and Little D had a very close relationship.

(Tr. 96, 97, 98, 99, 100).

Desmond is the parent best suited for the moral instruction of his children. He prays with his children twice a day on a daily basis, and he attends his church on a regular basis.(Tr. 125, 126)

LaKenya said she belongs to a church, but she never said how often she goes or if she even prays with the children. (Tr. 49) But she did admit that when Desmond corrected the children, he explained to them from a biblical standpoint why they should not do certain things. (Tr. 83)

When the children are sick, Desmond has the primary duty of carrying the children to the doctor. On occasion LaKenya would meet them at the doctor's office. (Tr. 131, 132)

Unfortunately, LaKenya does not have time for her children. She is preoccupied with work and school and when she is at home, she reads books, watches television and talks on the telephone. She does not spend time with her children. (Tr. 132, 134).

On the other hand, Desmond has devoted his life to his children, and he has exhibited the best parenting skills.

The Employment of the Parents and Responsibilities of that Employment:

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