IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DESMOND FORTHNER, SR.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO.: 2009-TS-00916

LAKENYA BONNER FORTHNER

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

APPEALED FROM: THE CHANCERY COURT of the First Judicial District of Jasper County, Mississippi

MICHAEL D. MITCHELL, MSB ATTORNEY FOR LAKENYA B. FORTHNER 543 CENTRAL AVENUE, SUITE 200 LAUREL, MISSISSIPPI 39440 PH: 601-425-0475 FAX: 601-425-0476

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DESMOND FORTHNER, SR.

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

VERSUS

CAUSE NO.: 2009-TS-00916

LAKENYA BONNER FORTHNER

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancellor correctly evaluated and followed the <u>Albright</u> factors when determining which parent should have custody of the minor children in this case.

The Chancellor followed the correct legal standard in making his decision to deny separate maintenance to Desmond, and his decision was supported by substantial, credible evidence. The Chancellor found Desmond to be partially at fault for the separation of the parties due to his arguments with LaKenya and his incredible testimony regarding his work activities, income, and actions in the home while the parties were still together.

The Chancellor did not violate Desmond's Freedom of Religion. The Chancellor repeatedly said he had no opinion regarding Desmond's religion, it was the impact Desmond's religion had on the family relationship which was at issue. The Chancellor found Desmond's testimony to be incredible, and unbelievable, and based his decision on that fact..

The Chancellor followed the correct legal standard in denying Desmond his request for attorney's fees, in part because the Chancellor found Desmond's testimony to be incredible, and because of Desmond's failure to follow the Court's Order after the first hearing.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: THE CHANCELLOR CORRECTLY APPLIED THE <u>ALBRIGHT</u> FACTORS TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

"(W)here there is substantial evidence to support the (C)hancellor's findings, this Court is without the authority to disturb his conclusions, although this Court might have found otherwise as an original matter." <u>Ballard v. Commercial Bank of DeKalb</u>, 991 So.2d 1201, 1205 (¶ 13) (citing In re Estate of Harris, 539 So.2d 1040, 1043 (Miss. 1989). "It is not the responsibility of this court to redetermine questions of fact that have been resolved by the Chancellor. <u>Jackson v.</u> <u>Peoples Bank & Trust Co</u>, 869 So.2d 422, 423 (¶ 5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). A Chancellor's findings cannot be overruled when they are supported by credible evidence unless they are "... an abuse of discretion, manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or the result of an erroneously applied legal standard." <u>Williams v. King</u>, 860 So.2d 847, 849 (¶ 8) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has made a determination of the factors to be applied when a Chancellor is determining child custody. Those factors are:

"... the health and sex of the child; a determination of the parent that has had the continuity of care prior to the separation; which has the best parenting skills and which has the willingness and capacity to provide primary childcare; the employment of the parent and responsibilities of that employment; physical and mental health and age of the parents; emotional ties with the parent and child; moral fitness of the parents; the home, school and community record of the child; the preference of a child at the age sufficient to express a preference by law; stability of the home environment and the employment of each parent, and other factors relevant to the parent-child relationship."

Albright v. Albright, 437 So.2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983).

In this case the Chancellor's findings were fully substantiated by the evidence. The testimony was clear concerning which party had the continuing care, custody, and control of the

minor children during the separation of the parties. The testimony shows that Lakenya took an active part in taking care of her children, cooking for them, cleaning up after them, and making sure they have their baths despite her heavy workload of college courses.

The testimony was also clear concerning the problems which Desmond faced after his motorcycle injury. The testimony indicated that Desmond continued to suffer from the aftereffects of his motorcycle wreck more than three years after the fact. The testimony indicated that there were some days which Desmond could not get out of bed, sometimes for 3 to 4 days at a time leaving Lakenya as the children's sole provider. Lakenya also would fix food and prepare things in the kitchen so that her husband could look after himself while she was at work or in school, and the children were in day care. Lakenya disputed the testimony of Desmond that he would take care of the children while she was in school in 2006 and 2007. Lakenya testified she would put the minor children on the school bus in the morning during 2006 and 2007, and the children would get off the school bus at her mother's house, not into Desmond's custody.

The testimony was clear concerning the Lakenya's activities in the marital home during the marriage. Lakenya testified she would be in the kitchen cooking while Desmond and the kids are outside playing catch, but that she sometimes found the time to play catch in amongst her other domestic duties. Lakenya testified the minor children would get off the school bus at her mother's house, not the marital home as Desmond indicated, during the marriage. Lakenya admitted she cannot make any plans regarding her future until after she graduates and is licensed as a nurse practitioner. Lakenhya also testified about Desmond taking Lil'D and refused to allow her access to her minor son until she obtained a court order; however, Desmond showed no interest in taking his adopted daughter. Lakenya feels she can provide a more stable environment where both children are treated equally while Desmond treats his son much better than his adopted daughter.

Jean Morgan also testified concerning the issue of child custody. Morgan testified she was Lil'D's teacher while he attended the East Jasper Head Start for two years. Morgan testified she saw Desmond regularly but seldom saw Lakenya at the Head Start program. Morgan testified she visited with the minor child in his home on at least two occasions while the minor child was enrolled in Head Start, and that she saw Desmond in the home on both occasions; however, on cross-examination Morgan admitted Desmond could have scheduled the visits at a time he knew Lakenya would not be present.

Desmond also testified concerning his view of who had taken care of the minor children during the course of the marriage. According to Desmond despite still suffering daily from the 2005 motorcycle accident he cooked every meal, washed every load of clothes, vacuumed each time the house was vacuumed, and mopped the floors daily while Lakenya ignored the house and the children. In fact Desmond was forced to ask for a recess of the trial to allow him time to ease his back; Desmond's back injury still affected him more than three years after the accident then he was forced to ask for a recess of his testimony to allow him to ease his back. Desmond admitted on the witness stand he told the minor children there was no Santa Claus without consulting with Lakenya. Desmond also testified that Lakenya hollers and screams at the children as a form of discipline while he takes the Bible and shows them where their behavior is wrong.

The Chancellor's review of the <u>Albright</u> factors to be considered in making a child custody determination occurred on page 199 through 225, especially pages 212 through 225, of the transcript. The Chancellor's review of the testimony and application of the testimony to the Albright factors indicates the strength of the evidence supporting the Chancellor's custody determination. There was ample credible evidence for the Chancellor to base his decision granting custody of the minor children of the parties to Lakenya Forthner. The Chancellor's decision is supported by substantial and credible evidence sufficient to support his findings in this appeal.

This court should affirm the decision of the Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Jasper County, Mississippi.

ISSUE II: THE CHANCELLOR'S DENIAL OF SEPARATE MAINTENANCE WAS SUPPORTED BY THE CREDIBLE EVIDENCE PRESENTED THROUGH TESTIMONY

"Separate Maintenance is 'court created equitable relief' based upon the marital relationship." *Pool v. Pool*, 989 So.2d 920, 927 (¶ 20) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). Separate Maintenance may be awarded: 1. When the parties have separated through no fault of wife and 2. The husband has willfully abandoned the wife and refused to support her. *Lynch v. Lynch*, 626 So.2d. 294, 296 (Miss. 1993). The wife need not be totally blameless in order to be awarded Separate Maintenance. *Robinson v. Robinson*, 554 So.2d 300, 304 (Miss. 1989)." The purpose of a decree awarding separate maintenance is to force the husband to "resume cohabitation with his wife or to provide for her separate maintenance." *Thompson v. Thompson*, 527 So.2d 617, 622 (Miss. 1988). In order to "be denied separate maintenance on the basis of conduct the wife's misconduct must have materially contributed to the separation." *Id.*

In issuing its ruling concerning the custody of the minor children of the parties herein, the court voiced its concerns regarding the truthfulness of Desmond and the things he wanted out of the divorce. The court noted, although it is a court of equity, that the court did not feel of those vibes from Desmond. (T. p. 220). The court noted several instances where Desmond was less than truthful in his testimony before the court. The court specifically recalled the testimony of Desmond that he would work in his yard on vehicles and be paid only what the people "threw" at him for working on their vehicles.

The court also determined that Desmond had received almost \$8000.00 in funds from various sources including United States government as a stimulus check, selling vehicles, and

work around his house without sharing any of that money with Lakenya. The court noted that Desmond was asking it to receive one half of the \$4400 the parties received when Lakenya's vehicle was totaled out even though he had not shared any of the monies he received with her, nor did he provide her with any of that money for the benefit of the children. The trial court noted that Desmond was not even trying to be fair regarding the monies he was seeking out of the divorce. (T. p. 222).

The trial court noted the Desmond's attitude during his testimony and its impact upon Desmond's credibility. Desmond testified he did nothing to make Lakenya leave the marital home. Desmond testified that he was the perfect husband and always stayed cool, calm, and collected while Lakenya hollered and screamed. Despite his earlier admission to the contrary, Desmond claimed to pay all of the marital bills out of this Social Security money because he was the perfect husband who did nothing to force Lakenya to leave the home. They could have had a happy home if she would have only followed his commands.

Despite his perfection Desmond did admit to unhooking the electricity service from the marital home on a cold winter morning because Lakenya had used marital funds to pay the electric bill rather than using her own separate funds which she had earned to pay marital bills. Lakenya testified she left the marital home because of Desmond's actions. The actions of Desmond she was speaking about included the stunt with the electricity, the continued conflict of faiths regarding what was allowed and what was banned by Desmond, and Desmond statement "... it would be his way or no way and if I didn't like it, I could go." (T. 272, 273). Lakenya's testimony clearly indicates she left the marital home due to Desmond's actions, words and attitude which had changed tremendously since they were married.

Lakenya also testified concerning the finances of the parties during the marriage.

Lakenya testified the couple's finances were separate up until Desmond's wreck at which time he became very controlling over the finances. Lakenya testified Desomond would take her paycheck and force her to ask for money to buy groceries or pay bills. (T. P.274, 275). Lakenya went on to testify that Desmond expected her to simply fall in and follow him and his commands as head of the household. (T. p.275). Lakenya testified she attempted to talk to Desmond about the differences between them, but Desmond waited until the children went to sleep and then became very cruel and mean to the extent that she could not go to sleep because of his words and actions. Lakenya testified Desmond's actions made her feel like a piece of property because he attempted to physically force her to attend his church, leading to a situation where Lakenya is scared of Desmond. (T. p.277 - 279). Lakenya also testified about Desmond's untruthfulness in his testimony concerning his work at home on vehicles for the public and the fact he charged the public and family members for his work on their vehicles despite his earlier testimony to the contrary. (T. p. 304).

The record is replete with instances of misconduct and fault on behalf of Desmond Forthner. The court had an ample and substantial basis for which to deny Desmond Forthner his request for separate maintenance, due to his misconduct and the fact he forced Lakenya to leave the marital home. This court should affirm the lower court's denial of separate maintenance to Desmond Forthner.

ISSUE III. THERE WAS NO VIOLATION OF DESMOND'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO FREEDOM OF RELIGION

"... the First Amendment to the Constitution of the United States provides in the first sentence that 'Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof..." *Harris v. Harris*, 343 So.2d 762 (Miss. 1977). The Constitution of the state of Mississippi has a similar provision. *Art. 3, § 18* (Miss. Const. 1890).

In <u>Muhammad v. Muhammad</u>, 622 So.2d 1239, 1243, (Miss. 1993), the Court paraphrased the United States Supreme Court regarding freedom of religion. The Mississippi Supreme Court noted that government may not penalize or discriminate against an individual or a group because of their religious beliefs. <u>Id.</u> (Citing <u>Fowler v. Rhode Island</u>, 345 U.S. 67, 97, 97 L.Ed. 828, 73 S.Ct. 526 {(1953)}).

As the record shows the Chancellor was very cognizant of the fact that Desmond would be filing an appeal based upon his (Desmond's) feeling that he was punished because of his religion. The record is full of instances where the court found Desmond's testimony to be less than truthful and honest. For instance on page 149 of the transcript Desmond testified that he charges nothing when he works on someone's car, that he takes "a little change" that people give him. Desmond also testified that he was not paying any child support for the use and benefit of his children despite the fact he had retained almost \$8000 of marital funds which he did not share with Lakenya. Desmond testified that he was entitled to one half of all funds which Lakenya obtained despite the fact he refused to share his funds with her.

In fact Desmond failed to follow the trial court's order that he redirect one of his minor children's Social Security benefits to Lakenya; instead, Desmond kept the check coming to him and forced Lakenya to ask him for the money. Desmond continually misstated the facts and outright lied about his payment of monies to Lakenya for the repair of her Acura which he sought to keep the insurance check from Lakenya and use it for his own purposes. But Desmond continually lied about the number of vehicles at his house, whether those vehicles were in working order, and the ownership of said vehicles. (T. p. 159 - 165).

"As stated, the Court has no problem with and finds no fault with Desmond's religion." (T. p. 219). The court was very cognizant of the fact that Desmond would appeal his decision based upon the issue of free exercise of religion. The court carefully crafted its decisions to exclude any possibility of favoritism of one party over another based upon religion. The Chancellor's decision in this case was amply supported by the testimony and evidence which was before the court.

The trial court clearly found Desmond's testimony to be less than entirely truthful. The court's determination that Desmond was untruthful is amply supported by the evidence before the court in this case. There were numerous inconsistencies and outright misstatements throughout Desmond's testimony. The only person who can read the transcript and say the Chancellor made his decision based upon religion is Desmond; any other, impartial reader of the transcript will see Desmond's inconsistencies and outright lies. The Chancellor did not infringe upon Desmond's free exercise of religion, and this court should affirm the findings of the lower court.

This Court should affirm the decision of the Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Jasper County, Mississippi.

ISSUE IV: THE CHANCELLOR CORRECTLY REFUSED TO AWARD ATTORNEYS FEES TO DESMOND

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